Student Number: 2144736

Title: Caring on Their Terms: How Gender Shapes Older Adults' Attitudes and

Experiences of Receiving Informal Care

Wordcount: 10,000 (including title) or 9983 (excluding title)

I declare that the research contained herein was granted approval by the SPAIS Ethics Committee.

University of Bristol

28th April 2025

Contents

Introduction	3
Beyond the "Burden": A Literature Review	4
Distinguishing Formal vs Informal	5
Rethinking Informal Care Research and Gender	6
Different Networks of Support and Diverse Relationships	7
Key Concepts – Negotiating Independence	8
Reframing Informal Care	9
Methodology	10
Limitations	13
Findings and Discussion	13
1.Formal Care	13
1.1 Home, Identity, and Institutional Living	14
1.2 Trust, Control, and Care Professionals	15
1.3 Paid Support and Pride	16
2.Friends, Neighbours and Community Involvement	17
2.1 From Familiarity to Fear: Decline of Community Support?	18
2.2 Beyond Proximity: Neighbourly support	19
2.3 Friendship and Social Participation: The Complexities of Emotional Care	20
3.Family and Spouses	22
3. 1 Spousal Care and Evolving Roles	22
3.2 Intergenerational Support and Care Expectations	23
3.3 The Impact of Living Partners in Care Dynamics	25
The Role of Gender in Shaping Informal Care Experiences in Later Life	26
Conclusion	27
Bibliography:	29
Appendix I	36

<u>Acknowledgements</u>

I would like to thank my supervisor, Jennifer, for her thoughtful feedback and vital guidance and advice throughout this project. Also, for the individuals who participated in and those who assisted with the original collection of the primary research data for this dissertation.

Caring on Their Terms: How Gender Shapes Older Adults' Attitudes and Experiences of Receiving Informal Care

Abstract:

The discussion explores the role of gender in shaping older adults' experiences of receiving informal care in the UK, focussing on how gendered expectations influence their attitudes and engagement with both informal and formal care systems. With the increasing ageing population, informal care remains a vital support system, often provided by family, friends or neighbours, yet research often overlooks the perspectives of older adults themselves. This study seeks to fill that gap by examining how practical, social and emotional needs are met. Through the analysis of in-depth interviews, the research reveals that women tend to prioritise emotionally reciprocal and trusted relationships, valuing sincerity, but also experience a greater sense of burden on their social networks. In contrast, men emphasise the importance of maintaining their social status and traditional role tied to their masculine identities to maintain a sense of continuity and avoid discomfort. This research hopes to forefront the voices of older adults in order to gain greater understandings of how they sustain their independence. It also underscores the need to shift the narrative from older adults as passive recipients of care to active agents who shape their reality through intentional decision making and adapt to the challenges of later life, often informed through their earlier lived experience.

Introduction

While the rapid growth of older adults in Britain is hopeful news for us all, conversations around ageing have increasingly painted older adulthood as a challenge society must solve. The NHS has voiced these concerns, noting, "Today one-in-six of the population is aged 65 and over, and by 2050 it will be one-in-four. But with these achievements in longevity, come significant challenges for the future" also emphasising that we need to ensure that we live healthier and "independent lives" (Thompson, 2015: 1.5). This neoliberal language reflects a wider trend in public thinking that emphasises self-management of health and the shift from collective responsibility toward the idealisation of individualism (Tanskanen et al., 2019). As a result, older people often end up being seen less as individuals with needs and preferences, and more as a 'social problem' to be managed (Russell, 2007: 186).

Informal care, usually provided by family, friends or neighbours, is one of the main ways older people are supported as they age (Gannon and Davin, 2010: 501). However, while much research has focussed on the experiences of caregivers, there is significantly less attention paid to how older adults themselves perceive and engage with informal care, despite the fact this is a stage of life we all hope to one day reach. This gap means they are often spoken about but rarely have the chance to speak for themselves. There's a risk here of reducing older adults to passive recipients, rather than recognising their active role and agency in shaping their support systems. Public rhetoric often encourages binary thinking around ageing, constructing a divide between 'adults' and 'the elderly' (Biggs, 2004: 49). This promotes the study of older adulthood as one, homogenised category, meaning distinctions in experiences between this large cohort of the population are rarely drawn or accounted for (Gierveld et al., 2003:105). This study aims to explore how gender shapes older adults' attitudes and experiences of receiving informal care, recognising it as one key factor in the diverse realities of later life. Understanding these differences is especially important when considering generations shaped by early to mid-20th-century norms, a time when roles, responsibilities, and expectations were more clearly divided along gender lines (Pilcher, 2001: 772).

This research draws on in-depth interviews with older adults in the UK to explore when and why informal care is sought, the perceived benefits and limitations of different sources of care (including family friends, and paid provision), and how emotional, social and practical needs are met. With the increasing prioritisation of those with the greatest needs of care in public policy, informal care remains a vital, flexible, and personalised source of support for many (Lyu et al., 2023: 633). This study seeks to challenge the framing of older adults by highlighting the reciprocal, active role many play in shaping their care relationships, with attention to the influence of gender. It shows how they contribute not only to their own well-being but to the well-being of those around them.

Beyond the "Burden": A Literature Review

Research on informal care has predominantly focused on the challenges caregivers face, often silencing the voices of care recipients while overstating dependency and the burden of care. This is exemplified by the frequent emphasis in public discussions on the growing demand for healthcare services and the escalating costs of supporting an ageing population. However,

literature which has foregrounded the voices of older people has shed necessary light on their autonomy in navigating the receipt of informal care which is important to challenge the portrayal of older adults through the lens of a "misery perspective" (Krekula, 2007: 160). Gender is a crucial way to inform how identity markers create distinctive challenges and can further "capture the complexity and uniqueness of individual private lives" (Russel, 2007: 175) to find out how the receipt of care can be more readily available to men and women. The first section explores the distinctions drawn between formal and informal care across existing literature and then moves on to consider how gender could impact the receipt of informal care. The third section explores which modes of care adults rely on for support and how different relationships offer varying benefits. The final section examines vital conceptual frameworks such as independence and reciprocity, exploring how these influence care dynamics and self-perception in older age.

Distinguishing Formal vs Informal

In England, formal care for older people is available free of charge to some individuals, typically those assessed as having higher or more complex needs (Lyu et al., 2023: 621). In care-related literature, formal care encompasses a wide range of paid services delivered by professionals, with examples ranging from GP appointments, home visits by befrienders, physiotherapy and services such as Meals on Wheels.

Informal care however is often referred to as those types of support that are typically provided by family members, friends, or neighbours (ibid). While formal care is professionally organised and paid for (Gannon and Davin, 2010: 501), informal care tends to involve less technical skill and is, therefore, more commonly relied upon by the broader older population. Research has suggested that there is an overall decline in the availability of informal care which may be linked to several social and demographic changes. These include the weakening of religious and cultural bonds that traditionally held families and communities together (Peterson and Margaret, 2017: 734), increased geographical mobility, higher divorce rates, and the rising number of women participating in the labour market (Centre for Policy on Ageing, 2014: 10). Additionally, UK policy has increasingly promoted ideals of independence and self-sufficiency in later life, which may have shifted feelings of responsibility and expectations around care (Allam, 2015).

Despite these changes, informal care remains a vital preferred source of support for many older adults, particularly because most express a strong desire to remain in their homes for as long as possible and avoid institutional care settings (Plothner et al., 2019: 2). The inherent differences between formal and informal care, one being of a monetised nature and one based on more spontaneous and emotionally driven motives, also highlights the potential significance of informal care in the lives of older adults. Hochschild (2012: 225) explores how modern relationships, particularly those involving care, have become increasingly shaped by market logic and warns that people often "forget how quickly things that only yesterday seemed bizarre have become the norm today" (in Musial, 2013: 141). This highlights how the infiltration of capitalist values into private life has subtly but largely altered the way we think about and practice care. However, for older adults, many of whom have witnessed this shift in how care is conceptualised, the value placed on informal, emotionally driven care may be higher, as they are less inclined to view care as a commodified service.

Cantor's (1979) hierarchical-compensatory model suggests that care recipients choose their care based on a ranked order of the primacy of the relationship: starting with spouses, followed by other relatives, then friends, neighbours, and finally formal services as a last resort. However, the availability of carers or the nature of the relationship, for example, may play a greater role than this model allows. Older adults often take an active role in managing their care, making decisions based on practical considerations and personal preferences relevant to the specific task or situation.

Rethinking Informal Care Research and Gender

Turning to informal caregiving literature specifically, the discussion has largely been dominated by the negative impact it takes on those providing the care (see Doty, 1996 or Erbel et al., 2017), with discourses framing carers as "morally superior" and "heroes" (see Weicht, 2008). Whilst this research remains valuable in acknowledging the growing demand for informal care in our ageing society, it simultaneously acts as a rhetoric which negatively portrays older people as a growing burden, instigating feelings of guilt and positioning them as highly dependent in the process. It is therefore crucial to hear the views of older adults themselves, "not just those of policymakers and needs assessors having to 'deal' with them" (Allen and Wiles, 2014: 671).

To deepen the understanding surrounding care research, it is important to recognise that acts of care are inherently relational, involving at least two people. Therefore, insights from both the provider and recipient are essential for a comprehensive understanding. Recognising relationality brings into focus the often-overlooked role of gender in shaping care experiences. Arber (1993) underlines the importance of adopting a life course approach in gerontological research which aims to avoid treating life stages as isolated phases as this can treat older adults as a discrete subgroup with unique needs and isolate them from the rest of society (1993: 11). Viewing age as a continuum allows for a more holistic understanding of how identities, including gender, are constructed and maintained across time. This is essential for exploring how informal care may be received differently by men and women.

Using a quantitative study, Pickard et al. showed that receipt of informal help is not significantly associated with gender (2000: 756). However, as Russel (2007: 174) argues, qualitative research is more effective in bridging the gap between population-level patterns and the specific ways these trends translate into everyday life. This highlights the importance of prioritising the voices of older adults in research, allowing researchers and policymakers to understand their lived experiences "through talk and interaction" (ibid). This also allows more nuanced considerations of sources of informal care, such as social and emotional support, to be considered more thoroughly. Girgus, Yang and Ferri (2017: 2) add that the sample sizes used in the qualitative research on older adults are often too small for gender differences to be stratified, further exemplifying the failure to properly examine the importance of gendered identities.

Different Networks of Support and Diverse Relationships

Litwak's (1985) task-specific model asserts the importance of having various supportive primary groups to fulfil different tasks (in Bengston, 2018), for example, the neighbourhood group is considered optimum for fulfilling care roles requiring proximity (Messeri et al., 1993: 127), often practical forms of assistance, such as help with shopping or housework. It is important to look at non-kin relations to better understand the "complexities of the delivery of support to older adults" (Aneke, 2023: iv). Aneke (2023: 109) highlights the value of neighbourly support for people living with dementia, noting its flexibility, spontaneity, and "no-string-attached" nature. This type of support, which can involve simply checking in, is especially beneficial as it requires minimal effort when provided by those living nearby,

thereby reducing the perceived burden for the recipient. This brings to light the importance of considering how different sources of informal care offer unique benefits. It also underscores the agency of older adults in making purposeful choices according to their care preferences.

Hupcey (1998) discusses the delayed reciprocation model, where the care recipient may not feel the need to reciprocate due to the history of their relationship (1236). This model supports Tanner's (1993: 49) claim that "the phenomenon of willing acceptance of help which cannot be reciprocated is most likely to occur in marriage". The long history of emotional reciprocity in spousal and parent-child relationships may override conventions of immediate practical or tangible reciprocity and therefore, may prove to be the most valued form of informal care. It is vital to recognise the act of caregiving as an active and fluid relationship between two or more people rather than "a unidirectional activity in which an active caregiver does something to a passive and dependent recipient" (Fine and Glendinning, 2005: 616) which can strip the agency from all involved parties.

In terms of social support networks, Russel, (2007: 179) explained that the female-oriented nature of organisations, such as dance or craft groups, has failed to provide men with the social spaces to carry out activities which resonate with their masculine identity. Less research has been conducted on older men's relationships with other men, reinforcing prevailing attitudes of men as "undersocialised isolates" (Archard, 1979: 66 in Russel, 2007: 184). Emotional and social aspects of informal care are reported to be crucial to protect individuals from the effects of stress in old age (Rueda and Artazcoz, 2009: 639). Despite the differences in the accessibility to informal modes of social support between men and women (Liao et al, 2023: 2), it is important to uncover the real-life experiences which could explain why this may be the case, without relying on simplistic generalisations which, for example, deem women to rate social support higher than men (see McInnis-Perry et al., 2013: 54).

Key Concepts – Negotiating Independence

Maintaining independence is a key theme in the literature on care, as it influences older adults' willingness to seek support. When older adults' health starts to deteriorate, Canvin et al. (2018: 467) note that they tend to avoid seeking formal support services for as long as possible, not because they deny their needs but because "they did not perceive any needs", reflecting the attitude that struggling in later life was viewed as an inevitable part of ageing. This could be indicative of societal attitudes in the UK which place little cultural value on the

support needs of older adults and instead promote independence as the ideal (Allam, 2015: 179). Traditional masculine ideals may also be more pronounced among older adults. Smith et al. (2007: 326) found that older men often associate independence with hegemonic masculinity, emphasising toughness, assertiveness, and control. This may help explain the lack of help-seeking behaviour among older men, as deep-seated masculine norms further reinforce and prioritise self-reliance.

Recognising how older adults minimise dependency highlights their autonomy and decision-making, also and reveals how images of the self are upheld. Interdependence is a valuable way to maintain a sense of control (Allam, 2015: 193) as reciprocity enables individuals to "maintain their story" as independent beings and uphold a sense of societal value, for example, offering homegrown vegetables in return for receiving lifts, framing support as an exchange rather than a one-sided dependency.

The perception of being a burden in older adulthood can lead to reluctance to accept informal care, as it triggers feelings of guilt and loss of autonomy (Lloyd et al., 2012). Older adults often resist burdening their children due to their busy lives, (Cahil et al., 2009; Allam, 2015), thus, undermining their own needs. The 'perfect grandmother' stereotype which casts older women as "always ready to help, devoting their time to grandchildren and enjoying every second spent with them" (Willinska, 2010: 886), for example, may discourage older women from seeking care, as it conflicts with the expectation that they are caregivers, not care recipients. Strategies such as fixing pre-scheduled slots with carers have been identified to help older adults mitigate feelings of burden by "eliminating the perceived disruption to the helper" (ibid) and preserving a sense of routine. Parsons (1942: 616 in Russel, 2007: 175) notes that retirement leaves older men in a "peculiarly functionless situation", with the loss of occupational status undermining their sense of self. Therefore, exploring the complexities of gendered influences could provide valuable insights into how men and women may use different strategies in shaping their care to maintain their identity.

Reframing Informal Care

Literature investigating the challenges of older adulthood and receipt of informal care has demonstrated that self-sufficiency is crucial to maintaining one's identity and avoiding being perceived as a burden. Despite the importance of gender in shaping attitudes and experiences towards receiving informal care, it remains largely unexplored. Traditional gender norms and

stereotypes, which could also be more prevalent among older generations, create distinct challenges for both men and women, influencing both their willingness to accept care and the types of care they are offered. Future research should prioritise the voices of older adults, acknowledging the influence of historical contexts, gendered identities and societal expectations. Gender can reveal more nuanced understandings regarding independence, reciprocity, and how the different types of informal support are navigated in older adulthood.

Methodology

The dataset upon which my research was based was Ann Bowling's "Psychometric Testing of the Multidimensional Older People's Quality of Life Questionnaire, 2007-2008" project, retrieved from the UK Data Service. The data utilised was qualitative face-to-face in-depth interview transcripts which sought to investigate interviewees' perceptions of active ageing and quality of life. The original study's interview schedule outlined the primary themes addressed: Age, Defining Active Aging, Lifestyle, Changes in Quality of Life, Coping with Ageing and Barriers to Active Ageing. Each theme was further explored through a set of subquestions. The themes of this study were relevant to my own research aims regarding the experience of receiving care. Participants were specifically asked about challenges they faced and whether they had developed new coping strategies in older age. This prompted them to discuss how they balanced seeking assistance and maintaining their independence.

The sample was diverse with 42 interviews conducted in total, all about an hour long with participants aged 72 years and older. This age bracket is appropriate for research on older adults in the UK, as the literature commonly defines older adults in line with eligibility criteria for age-related services, such as the state pension, which currently begins at age 66 (Brazinova and Chytil, 2024: 342). Participants were recruited from "consenting respondents from the ONS survey in 1999-2000". Within the sample, there were 24 females, 16 of whom were widowed, and 18 males, 3 of whom were widowed. All participants were living in private households in Britain which aligned well with the aim of my research on informal care. Individuals living at home, rather than in institutional settings, are more likely to substitute informal for formal care as they tend to have lower care needs and thus less likely to require specialised assistance (Bonsang, 2009 in Lyu et al, 2022: 634). All 42 transcripts were analysed,

with the sample consisting of approximately 43% men and 57% women. This distribution allowed for meaningful gender comparisons while ensuring adequate representation of both genders to explore potential differences in perspectives on care.

Qualitative data is particularly suited to the aims of this research, as it brings to light subjective felt experiences and is best suited to uncovering the beliefs, values, and motives that allow researchers to delve into the 'why' behind behaviours (Castleberry and Nolen, 2018: 807) through a more context-dependent and personalised approach. Since interviews were conducted directly with older adults, the data shifts the focus from studying older adults to amplifying their voices in research, offering insight not only into the care they receive but also how they perceive and experience that care. The semi-structured interview format further enhances this, allowing participants to reflect on their daily lives, emotional experiences, and broader social contexts. Its flexibility enabled interviewers to ask follow-up questions, resulting in richer, more nuanced data that extended beyond the original research objectives.

The use of secondary data enabled access to a large, high-quality, and methodologically reliable dataset, enhancing the validity and representativeness of the findings. Importantly, working with existing data facilitated a stronger focus on analytical depth and theoretical engagement, rather than the practical and ethical complexities of primary data collection (Boslaugh, 2009: 3). This is particularly valuable given the inevitably sensitive nature of topics explored within gerontological research, such as widowhood and disability, where interviewer expertise and professionalism are essential. The original interviews, conducted in participants' homes were designed to be informal and sensitive to the needs and potential fatigue of older adults (UK Data Archive). The extended time researchers spent with participants fostered rapport, a critical element when addressing emotionally distressing topics. As Silverio et al. (2022: 7) note, such research demands significant training due to the potential of inducing psychological distress. Furthermore, secondary analysis offers an unobtrusive method of engaging with potentially vulnerable populations, reducing the burden of repeated interview participation and avoiding unnecessary emotional exposure (Kelly, 2024: 616).

From an ethical standpoint, a key benefit of using this dataset was that it has already undergone formal ethical review and approval by the University College London Research Ethics Committee. Additionally, all personal identifiers and sensitive information related to participants had been anonymised to ensure confidentiality. However, given the sensitive

nature of the topics addressed in the dataset, such as illness and bereavement, my absence from the original research could raise ethical considerations. The data likely emerged from relationships of trust and disclosure between interviewers and participants (Irvine, 2024: 721), relationships I did not partake in. As a secondary analyst, I benefit from this intellectual and emotional labour without having contributed to its formation, and participants may have not anticipated their narratives being repurposed for new research aims. It is therefore important to remain sensitive not only to the participants' emotional investment but also to the care and effort of the original researchers (Weller and Edwards, 2022: 728). This distance may have also meant that, at times, the gravity of the topics at hand may not have been fully grasped or emotionally engaged with in the same way as if I had conducted the interviews myself. Nevertheless, I approached the data with a conscious awareness of this limitation, taking care to consider the emotional weight of the participants' experiences throughout my analysis. Additionally, as a researcher in the early stages of adulthood, I acknowledged the limitations of my ability to fully comprehend the lived realities of ageing and remained mindful of my positionality throughout the analysis, acknowledging the participants' greater life experience.

Data analysis began with familiarisation through a close reading of the interview transcripts, during which brief notes were taken on key contextual factors such as whether participants had children or cared for an ill spouse. This step was particularly important given that the interviews had been conducted by others, and therefore, thorough familiarisation allowed a clearer understanding of each participant's background. Due to the breadth of the dataset, a rigorous systematic approach based on the typical stages of thematic analysis was employed. Initial codes were developed using NVivo, which facilitated the organisation of direct quotations under relevant categories. The process enabled the identification of theme frequency and the creation of hierarchical 'child codes' to enable finer distinctions (Castleberry and Nolen, 2018: 810). Initial codes such as 'house maintenance', 'role in the community' and 'spousal loss' were eventually grouped under broader categories: 'formal', 'friends' or 'family' and these categories were examined alongside overarching themes including independence, interdependence, and vulnerability. This flexible method of analysis was well suited to the research aims, allowing for the interpretation of complex, context-specific variations in participants' responses.

Although previous research on support for older adults has utilised qualitative interviews, studies have generally focussed on specific populations (Devkota et al., 2003: 1), such as older adults with depression or Alzheimer's disease (Frost, 2020; Krokorelias et al., 2021). Moreover, studies have often lacked gender balance, with male participants frequently comprising less than 15% of interview samples (Allam, 2015: 49).

Limitations

One limitation of this study lies in the secondary nature of the data as the interviews were not designed to directly address the specific aims of this investigation. However, this is mitigated by the richness and depth of the original dataset, with overarching themes that align closely with the present research focus. The reanalysis of this material through the lens of gender allows new insights to emerge. This offers new interpretations that were not the primary focus of the initial study. Another constraint is the timing of the interviews, conducted between 2007 and 2008. Given the evolving nature of social norms and structural conditions affecting older adults, the data may not fully reflect current realities. Nonetheless, older adults' perspectives remain underrepresented in research, making it all the more important to advocate for their inclusion, even when available data are limited. Lastly, while presence during data collection and familiarity with the immediate context are often viewed as vital for achieving an authentic understanding of qualitative data (Irwin, 2013: 297), conducting analysis at a distance can offer a neutral and objective approach when actively identifying themes. The detailed interview transcriptions also provided sufficient depth and contextual information to support a rigorous thematic analysis and the depth and detail that the data provided enabled substantial contextual understanding of the participants.

Findings and Discussion

1. Formal Care

This section will explore formal provisions of support, referring to paid services that are often defined in contrast to informal care from family and friends (Siira et al. 2020: 633). It focusses on services that help individuals with limited impairment to remain home. These types of support are connected in their paid nature, which allows for a comparison between care

relationships based on economic exchange and those grounded in mutual emotional or social ties. Since most men lived with partners and most women were widowed, formal support was discussed more by women. While Cantor's (1979) Hierarchical Compensatory Model views formal care as a last resort (in Messeri et al., 1993: 123), this section will explore some of the benefits that paid services can bring older adults, that informal sources cannot. It begins with perceptions of institutional living, then explores experiences with formal care providers and health professionals and finally discusses paid support services within the home and how these relate to independence and self-sufficiency in later life.

1.1 Home, Identity, and Institutional Living

Many women expressed a strong desire to avoid moving into assisted living, rejecting the identity and perceived social status associated with it. For them, institutional care symbolised frailty and loss of independence which did not resonate with their self-identity. Participant 22 resisted using a mobility scooter, fearing it would make her feel "really old", while participant 14 associated wheelchair use with being an "invalid". She also jokingly remarked about others her age: "some of them dribble, don't they?". Societal narratives often portray ageing women as vulnerable and dependent (Queniart and Charpentier, 2011: 992), helping explain their reluctance to accept traditional images of old age. Therefore, remaining at home allows women to avoid identification with older adults they saw as less capable.

Moving into sheltered housing may be more appealing for some, as it involves less intensive care and fewer associations with frailty. However, most older women were reluctant to leave homes they had nurtured as homemakers, where routines and memories of late spouses provided emotional continuity (Rioux, 2005: 231) and peace in unassisted living. Participant 26 proudly described her home of thirty years as "like a fairyland". Participant 24 also stated "if they came in and said, "you can't live here anymore". I think I'd say, put me in my box because I don't want to go anywhere else". Equally, Participant 15 enjoyed the supportive presence of a warden in her sheltered housing and the community activities they organised. Participant 18 was open to a small flat with a warden on-site to feel more secure in the future. Both women, however, had chronic health issues, one recovering from a broken hip and the other experiencing frequent arrhythmias. These positive associations with sheltered housing suggest that, as health becomes a greater concern in older age, security may take precedence over the attachment to home and desire for independence. Male participants who considered

assisted living seemed less concerned with the emotional loss of home. Participant 9 said he was open to moving after his wife passed noting he had been "very rarely at home" during his working life. This aligns with the argument that men frequently see the home as a woman's space (Russel, 2007: 179), reflecting how their identities may be more closely tied to work (Milligan et al., 2015), thus, moving out would not threaten their sense of self in the same way.

However, there was an evident reluctance that men showed toward formal care which may still be linked to their sense of identity. Participant 8 noted that her husband disliked being looked after by carers when she travelled:

I haven't had a holiday for 3 years...But he just doesn't want to go in care. And he says, 'oh I'll see if I can manage here' but he's very unsteady on his feet so I don't like it.

His resistance may stem from discomfort with being cared for by a stranger or having his personal space disrupted. It could also suggest that receiving care from a paid professional, rather than his spouse, makes his dependence feel more real. In contrast, being cared for by his wife has likely been a natural part of their daily routine for years and therefore does not threaten his independence.

1.2 Trust, Control, and Care Professionals

Female participants generally reported positive experiences with health professionals, but concerns were raised about inconsistent care. Participant 21 claimed, "I've got a wonderful doctor...But you know there are lots of doctors who really don't think too much about the patients". This potentially highlights the value of exhibiting qualities associated with 'bedside manner' such as empathy, attentiveness, and genuine concern (Person and Finch, 2009: 2). However, such interpersonal skills have reportedly declined in healthcare since the 1970s (Quaile et al., 2024: 885) and this may impact older women more as they are said to hold a higher level of the "sociability trait" (Bodner, 2011: 1203), linking to their preference for emotionally attuned communications. Scepticism toward professional caregivers appeared common among the women. Participant 11 complained, "these home helps, light up a cigarette, make a cup of coffee, stick something in the microwave...that was about all they did". Similarly, Participant 28 voiced concerns over her husband's treatment, saying, "I'm sure something can be done to help him...but the doctors seem too...you know, not going to bother

with you". These sentiments illustrate a deeper mistrust in the quality, commitment, and sincerity of formal caregivers. Hochschild (2012) argues that the lines between personal and transactional relationships have become increasingly blurred, the former based on the "spirit of a gift" and the latter based on "the spirit of consumption" (Musial, 2013: 141). For older women, whose lives were less shaped by consumer models of caregiving, this distinction may be more pronounced. They may therefore be more cautious of outsourced help, possibly perceived as lacking the emotional depth and authenticity found in traditional informal support.

Some male participants expressed a strong preference for self-reliance in healthcare. Participant 12 implied there was an excessive dependency on medical services, remarking, "people go to the doctors every 5 minutes". Participant 32 also demonstrated a sense of defiance toward medical advice, dismissing health warnings in the newspapers: "doesn't seem to affect me much.... on my best day...I have two bottles of red wine... And about ten cigarettes. But if things start to go wrong, yes, then I obviously would. Take a pull.", indicating again that men are more likely to assert control rather than accept authority. In contrast, women more readily acknowledged limitations. Participant 18, for example, conveyed a more cautious approach, explaining she told herself "not to be to be silly with things I cannot do". Men therefore appeared to frame independence as resistance to medical authority while women were more likely to integrate medical advice into their self-management strategies.

Male participants expressed fewer strong opinions about formal care providers, possibly because they did not see formal care as a central part of health maintenance the same way women did. However, Participant 27 spoke fondly of his physiotherapist, joking that he "pulls her leg a lot" and teases her with names. As one of the only divorced older men living alone, he may have valued the regular interaction her visits provided but expressed this affection through humour rather than openly acknowledging emotional need. When she missed a few sessions, he recalled "I told her off", suggesting a light-hearted attempt to reassert control, over the dynamic. His humour may serve to mask emotional need while affirming his masculinity through flirtation or banter in their interactions, serving as a means of preserving both strength and self-identity.

1.3 Paid Support and Pride

Both men and women showed reluctance to rely on paid assistance for home upkeep reflecting broader UK cultural ideals that celebrate independence. (Allam, 2015). For women, however, paid support at home was often more acceptable when professional and personal boundaries became more blurred. Participant 22 spoke warmly of her gardener's weekly visits and spoke fondly of her cleaner despite noting "she's not very good", suggesting that their social connection made her more forgiving of the cleaner's professional faults. Participant 23 appreciated that the man who does her hoovering also "does other things for me as well... without my asking him". These instances suggest that when paid support feels more personal, older women may be receptible to it, valuing not just the tasks performed but the sense of familiarity and care that develops.

Men often rejected paid assistance with tasks, seeing it as a means of reaffirming their independence and maintaining their sense of self. Participant 27 distrusted other people to do his shopping, insisting, "if you want a job doing, better doing it yourself". As one of the few widowed men, this reluctance could reflect an unwillingness to confront the vulnerabilities of ageing alone, prioritising resilience instead. Participant 2 also stated "you don't want fuss and bother...I think one has to be stoic", highlighting a masculine ideal that values emotional restraint and self-sufficiency in ageing. Formal services may be perceived as a threat to their identity, as they challenge their capability and could diminish their perceived masculine social status, which is often associated with superiority (Tseole and Vermaak, 2020: 2), especially in the presence of strangers.

Women in their interviews, however, seemed to maintain a sense of independence by avoiding reliance on family and friends. A few women utilised the Meals on Wheels service while Participant 23 said "my milk is delivered and my paper, my bread's delivered. I've sorted myself out...I've compensated you know", framing paid support as a practical solution and a source of pride rather than an indication of dependence. These accounts show that independence is not merely the absence of dependence but often lies in maintaining decisional agency (Allam, 2015: 56), the freedom to choose how and when support is received, even if executional capacity declines. Women often acknowledged their limitations without perceiving them as failures, instead presenting themselves as resourceful, thus countering stereotypes of older women as passive.

2. Friends, Neighbours and Community Involvement

As families become increasingly geographically dispersed, friends and neighbours are playing a growing role in the provision of informal care (Aneke, 2023: iv). Emotional and social connection has emerged as a crucial component of these evolving support networks (Duner and Nordstrom, 2006: 80). This section explores the significance of these dimensions in informal care, emphasising that care is best understood, not as a passive unidirectional activity, but something shaped by the dynamics of the relationship between individuals (Fine and Glendinning, 2005: 616). The discussion begins by exploring how older adults perceive society as increasingly hostile and less trustworthy, reducing their willingness to seek support from wider networks. It then examines general feelings of disconnect from the community that have led to barriers to seeking help from neighbours. Finally, it considers the centrality of emotional support within female friendships and how men's social needs are often met through group activities.

2.1 From Familiarity to Fear: Decline of Community Support?

Both male and female participants perceived a decline in societal cohesion, leading to a loss of the community support they remembered from the past. Many men spoke broadly about growing unfamiliarity and some linked this to demographic and cultural changes. Participant 17, for instance, criticised immigrant workers for making him redundant while Participant 16 expressed fears about global terrorism: "I think it's a very, very great danger. I think the advance of Islam is dreadful". These views, likely shaped by generational anxieties rather than direct experiences, reflect a broader mistrust of a changing social landscape. Jonson (2007: 90) observed that some Swedish older adults were uncomfortable receiving support from non-Swedish carers, rooted in what she described as a "fear of the unknown". For older men, the erosion of homogenous communities may be perceived as threatening to the environment where their social status as older white males once held unchallenged dominance. This loss could intensify reluctance to seek support from more diverse networks where their perceived traditional authority may no longer be recognised or respected.

Older women's perception of societal hostility also appeared to shape their expectations of support from wider society. Westwood (2023: 564) found that many older women felt ignored in public, consumer, and social spaces, often sensing stereotypes that assumed them to have low competence. Such perceptions could contribute to feeling like a burden and diminish feelings of self-worth. Women also expressed they felt vulnerable in public settings. Several women described feeling uneasy about going into town alone. Participant 13 complained that "you're walking slowly and they...wonder why you're not moving out their way", highlighting the sense of resentment she felt toward her. Participant 26 similarly voiced concern over the "nutters" rushing past her on the road, suggesting deeper anxieties about personal safety and social hostility. These experiences suggest that older women often feel positioned by society as frail or taxing, which may discourage them from seeking formal or public support, possibly increasing their reliance on those in closer proximity.

2.2 Beyond Proximity: Neighbourly support

Both men and women expressed a shared nostalgia for closer-knit communities of the past, a sentiment which aligns with findings that informal care from neighbours has significantly declined since the 1990s (Centre for Policy on Aging, 2014: 8). However, some female participants generally reported stronger emotional ties with some individual neighbours compared to men, often characterised by mutually caring interactions. Participant 11, for example, recalled how her neighbour checked in if she did not switch her light on in the morning and explained how they took each other's bins when one was unwell. Similarly, Participant 35 talked about actively supporting her neighbour, often making an effort to "cheer her up" due to her husband's illness. Women were also more likely to share detailed accounts of their neighbours' routines and personalities, suggesting they placed greater value on familiarity and engaged frequently with neighbours. The relationships discussed provided both convenient practical assistance and exemplified emotionally meaningful reciprocity, although this was more evident with individual neighbours than with the wider neighbourhood. Women generally had stronger neighbourly ties but also expressed greater concern about burdening others compared to men. For instance, Participant 4, shared that one of her neighbours used to do her gardening but then thought "well, it's not fair so I have a gardener come and do it now". Participant 18 explained she liked her neighbours but would only seek their help if she "really" needed it as she did not want to "worry people". Similarly,

another woman hesitated to accept neighbours' offers to take her shopping to prevent creating a sense of obligation, explaining, "I know the feeling that once they do it they have to do it again". Neighbours offer convenient proximity for tasks like shopping and transport, making them ideal helpers under Litwak's (1985) task-specific model (Messeri et al., 1993: 123). However, for many women, emotional closeness appeared to be a prerequisite for regularly accepting practical help, as a strong sense of responsibility not to burden others often led them to decline support from neighbours with whom they lacked a strong personal bond.

A notable theme among male participants was a sense of disconnection from their neighbourhood community and a reluctance to seek support from it. Participant 5, admitted he would enjoy more company but claimed that he "can" cope alone, perhaps reflecting cultural norms of male stoicism. Others voiced disappointment in younger neighbour's lack of initiative, such as Participant 27, who criticised girls in his neighbourhood for not reaching out to him, describing them as "very self-centred". Male participants overall mentioned neighbourly relations far less frequently and, when they did, these relationships were often described in transactional terms, such as looking after each other's keys, suggesting less emotional closeness. One man, Participant 41, reflects on the emotional burden experienced by men in later life. He recalls "I didn't even know my neighbours...she had a social life with neighbours...women have these long-lasting friendships", underscoring the social isolation he felt compared to the strong social networks maintained by women. While men appear less inclined to seek neighbourly support, some may desire closer connections but are less accustomed to initiating them. In contrast, older women may be more comfortable forming these relationships, having more likely developed these skills in earlier life, through spending more time at home. This highlights how shrinking networks of informal care among older adults (Gallagher, 1994: 568) are experienced differently based on gender.

2.3 Friendship and Social Participation: The Complexities of Emotional Care

Emotional support is a key aspect of informal care that supports older adults' psychological well-being. Women frequently reported having long-standing friendships, such as Participant 24 who said she had continued to maintain close ties with women from a mother's club and Participant 7 said she had a best friend of "over 50 years". Peer friendships were described as vital sources of understanding, often reported as valued more than family relationships when

it came to discussing personal issues, likely because they offer mutual understanding and allow emotional reciprocity. While Westwood (2023) suggests that older women often internalise feelings of invisibility, older men are reported to be more likely to view ageism as "a distant social problem" (Korotchenko et al., 2016: 1757), and therefore, men may not seek the same emotional comfort. As friendships are usually characterised by voluntary interdependence (Wright, 1982: 5), they allow women to share problems with one another without feeling they are imposing, making friendship-based support with peers feel less burdensome. This helps women maintain a stronger sense of independence and possibly explains why women are more likely to access support outside the family (Lee and Brennan, 2002: 408).

Male participants commonly described fulfilling social needs through structured, task-oriented groups like retiree associations, allotment management, or clubs tied to their fields in their professional identity. Participant 32 for instance described his allotment not as a place of leisure but as a "way of life for some of the old fellas". He claimed that going to the allotment for peace and quiet is important to them, claiming "its more of a duty rather than an enjoyment". The prominent male participation in organised, task-oriented activities may reflect an adaption to the loss of purpose after retirement, as highlighted by Participant 30:

To be working full time and then suddenly to stop, and all interest in life has been mainly to do with your work...it's a great loss for anyone, particularly to a man.

Traditional 'masculine' social spaces therefore offer older men a valuable, though less explicit, sense of mutual support, while activities like maintaining allotments provide tangible outcomes and a sense of job satisfaction (Milligan et al., 2015: 134). These spaces align with men's identities and roles, suggesting they are more open to companionship through shared participation than through emotional support.

Yet, a few men expressed a desire to avoid structured social obligations that other men took up, instead valuing the freedom that retirement afforded them. Participant 27 declined the offer to become chairman of his club, explaining that he did not want to commit to being busy every Tuesday night when there might be something that he preferred to watch on TV. Participant 27 and 16 emphasised their appreciation for more time to pursue hobbies after retirement, both describing their previous jobs as stressful and burdened with heavy

responsibilities. Those who felt their jobs dramatically worsened their quality of life might therefore become more selective about how they spend their time in retirement, viewing it as a period of hard-earned personal freedom. As a result, they may be less willing to engage in or receive community-based support or wider social engagement if it is perceived as a constraint on their newfound autonomy.

3. Family and Spouses

While it is widely believed that families are increasingly less willing to care for older relatives than they were historically (Doty, 1986: 37), it is evident that many older adults also express reluctance to seek help from family, often due to fears of intruding on their children's lives. Acts of reciprocity therefore become a crucial means of maintaining dignity and gender can play a significant role in shaping how reciprocity is enacted, influenced by lifelong roles and identities. However, the historical context of spousal and familial relationships can explain how gendered roles "subside somewhat in old age" (Truk et al., 2023: 237). This chapter first examines the unique dynamics of spousal care, focussing on how emotional intimacy and shared history shape men's and women's care relationships. Next, it considers the enduring gendered expectations in familial care, particularly the role of children. Finally, it discusses how having a living partner influences older adults' reliance on family networks, with implications for their independence, identity and emotional well-being.

3. 1 Spousal Care and Evolving Roles

Carers within spousal relationships often seemed to be felt as natural, rooted in long-standing intimacy and shared history. Although caregiving literature consistently shows caregivers are women (Kokorelias, 2021: 2853), it was evident that many male participants took on greater domestic and caring roles after retirement. Some described an equal division of domestic labour, while others readily assumed intensive caregiving tasks. Participant 1 recalled wiping his partner's bottom, and Participant 9 spoke about dressing his wife each morning. Participant 2 reflected on taking on more chores:

I don't see it as work or a chore and that, I mean we've been married 62 years.... ok it cramps your style but the last thing you want is to be... you know she's the mother of my children!

The historical and emotional depth of romantic relationships therefore seems to override societal expectations of giving and receiving care (Arber, 1993: 49) as support is more about shared care over a lifetime than rather than immediate exchange. Despite an emphasis on women's caregiving roles in literature, older men expressed deep appreciation for their partner's support. Participant 39, for example, praised his wife's efforts in dressing his ulcers and driving him, saying, "she's been marvellous... she's faced up to it well". Far from viewing his wife's efforts as simply meeting expectations, he deeply valued the care she provided, highlighting the mutual respect and gratitude involved in older spousal care.

Widowed women often reflected on losing both practical and emotional support once provided by their late husbands. Participant 35, for instance, valued how her husband would "walk behind me to make sure nobody banged into me", highlighting the value of the protective, nurturing nature of their relationship. Although support from neighbours or professionals can replace practical tasks, the sincerity and intimacy of spousal care remain uniquely meaningful. Women may therefore be more receptive to care that affirms their emotional worth and feels genuine, rather than performed out of obligation (Hochschild, 2012: 62). Widowed participants also expressed missing the act of caregiving itself, highlighting its role in fostering mutual security, an aspect paid support is less likely to offer. However, most rejected the idea of new relationships. Participant 34 explained "they don't make them like my husband", while Participant 7 said, "we had a happy marriage...no one else would match up". This suggests that for some women, the unique emotional significance of a past relationship outweighs the benefits of having a new partner.

3.2 Intergenerational Support and Care Expectations

Participants frequently highlighted daughters as central sources of practical help and, for women, emotional support. For many female participants, daughters were not just helpers but companions, engaging in activities like holidaying, exchanging fashion advice and teasing, as well as assisting with shopping and housework. Participant 20 remarked "the boys are good but... you've got to have a daughter", while Participant 24 described her daughter as "second to nobody". Sons, however, were often seen as less dependable, framed within more typical filial roles. Participant 13, for example, claimed "sons being sons they phone when they think to", reflecting research suggesting that men's peripheral caregiving often goes unchallenged (Begley and Cahill, 2003: 162). This points to a broader preference for female participants for

care relationships that felt personal and consistent. Interactions with children also offered a welcome contrast to what Participant 8 described as the "doom and gloom" of peer groups, adding emotional uplift alongside familiarity.

However, several women voiced disappointment when familial support fell short. Participant 34 criticised her grandsons for not helping with plants in the garden, "I did them for my granny.... They're just useless" and criticised her daughter-in-law: "she couldn't give a **** ...she can't cook! 30 years married and she's never cooked...how things have changed!". Participant 35 also resented being told to take taxis by her son instead of receiving lifts. These frustrations reflect lingering expectations shaped by caregiving norms from their own upbringing (Vangen and Herlofson, 2024: 2721). According to Hupcey's (1998: 1236) "delayed reciprocation model", past caregiving can foster a sense of entitlement to support later on. These insights show that a disconnect between women's care expectations in the past and their present realities may cause frustration. However, a common theme both male and female participants emphasised was that their children were available if needed, and this appeared to support their sense of independence as they did not need to see them so frequently to feel reassurance and comfort. Therefore, "anticipated social support" (Brazinova and Chytil, 2024: 339) may provide an optimal form of support which balances the desire to feel secure without compromising privacy.

Male participants often framed care from their children as reciprocal, frequently highlighting what they provided in return. Participant 1 noted that his daughter regularly offered him lifts, adding "Mind you I bought her a car, so she had to!" while Participant 12 mentioned he would often help sort his grandson's tax out, suggesting an ongoing need to position himself as contributing to the relationship. Participant 27 also recalled being taken on holiday by his children's family but clarified "I paid for everything". These examples suggest that men may be reluctant to accept care without offering tangible resources in return. This reciprocity may help them maintain a sense of control, self-esteem, and dignity, preserving the provider role they held during their children's upbringing and reducing any perceived burden on these support systems.

Many men reported receiving more care from their daughters than sons. Tasks such as laundry and bed-making were often said to be carried out by their daughters. Participant 5 described his daughter as dependable, claiming she "usually brings anything you want, you know" while

he excused his son's absence due to his work commitments. Participant 2 also praised his daughter's support yet spoke at length about his pride in his son's travelling achievements. This suggests that older men may be more accustomed to receiving care from female family members, and less questioning of the care provision imbalance between sons and daughters, reflecting lifelong experiences of women as primary caregivers and reinforcing gendered expectations in informal care.

3.3 The Impact of Living Partners in Care Dynamics

For participants with living partners and low care needs, family interactions were more often framed as social rather than sources of care. Participant 12 described outings with his wife to watch their children and grandchildren waterski, and Participant 19 explained that he and his wife were house-hunting to better accommodate family visits, suggesting that spousal presence helps maintain familiar parent-child dynamics.

Partners also shaped gendered approaches to social support. Participant 30 noted that although he rarely sees his daughter, he feels content with his new partner, stating, "we don't feel we're missing out...quite happy in our little environment here". Married men often described social lives intertwined with their wives as well, like attending bridge clubs or dance classes together. Wives seemed to connect several male participants to these broader peer networks, reflecting research suggesting that women place greater value on social support (McInnis-Perry et al. 2013: 54). Truk et al. (2023: 242) argue that goals in later life shift toward deepening existing emotional ties rather than "expanding one's horizons". This may resonate more with men, while women, given their longer life expectancy, may maintain broader ties to safeguard future support.

Women with living spouses tended to express a desire to maintain elements of the caregiving role, typically through acts like cooking for family or picking grandchildren up from school. Participant 7 noted that, despite cooking much more in her earlier years, she now only "make[s] cakes sometimes for the kids" due to physical limitations. This demonstrates a continued effort to contribute despite increased challenges. Participant 4 said that many women feel "they're not needed anymore" after their children leave home, reflecting on the identity shift that can occur in later life. These caregiving acts may boost self-esteem and provide continuity but could also stem from societal expectations reinforced by media portrayals of the "perfect grandparent" (Willinska, 2010: 886), which can pressure women to

uphold caregiving roles. Still, several women valued their increased autonomy, pursuing activities like volunteering in charity shops and exercise classes. Participant 33 claimed, in her later life, if anything she'd seemed "to have got busier but no...certainly not for the worse", challenging the "misery perspective" often used to study older women (Krekula, 2007: 160). While caregiving can provide purpose (Doty, 1986: 52), it is important not to overlook older women's desire for freedom and the need to reduce societal pressure to prioritise others' needs over their own.

The Role of Gender in Shaping Informal Care Experiences in Later Life

To understand how gender shapes older adults' attitudes toward informal care, it is first important to contextualise this by considering their reception of formal care. Women's reluctance to move into institutionalised settings appeared rooted more in their emotional attachment to the home than in concerns about formal care itself. This may stem from the pre-1960s emphasis on "home meaning security and family continuity" (Dupuis and Thorns, 2007: 498). Future research could explore whether these attachments have shifted among older women today compared to those interviewed in 2007. In contrast, older men's limited attention to future care needs may reflect a broader tendency to avoid long-term planning, potentially shaped by traditional reliance on wives as primary social organisers (Russel, 2007: 183). Men therefore may be more receptive to spontaneous, informal care received from family and friends with support from wives often perceived as a natural continuation of marital life. These forms also limit feelings of dependence.

Female participants often expressed uncertainty toward professional caregivers. Classen (2011: 44) distinguishes between caring *for* a person and caring *about* a person, adding, "successful action and the right motive do not necessarily coincide". This may explain women's preference for informal care, as the economic nature of formal provisions could make it feel less sincere and reinforce suspicions that the support offered was not genuinely motivated. However, routine paid services like cleaning or gardening were typically accepted as non-threatening and allowed women to maintain a sense of independence without feeling indebted or bring obligations that informal care could create.

Avoiding the feeling of being a burden emerged as a more significant influence on women's decisions around informal support, often rejecting help from less familiar neighbours when they may feel they could not reciprocate. Equity Theory (Cahill et al., 2009: 310) suggests that relationships are valued for their symmetry and therefore, female friendships, offering voluntary interdependence and emotional support rather than filial obligation were particularly valuable. Nonetheless, women's disappointment when care expectations from family were unmet underlines how attitudes toward informal care are shaped by personal histories and social norms.

For men, maintaining their perceived social role seemed to be a central concern when receiving care. Informal support from family and friends may feel more equal as professional services, often rooted in external expertise, could challenge male identities that are closely linked to independence and decision-making. Companionship was also frequently sought in a way which aligned with their identity often through structured activities rather than the exchange of confiding, which became especially important after retiring or reducing work participation. Due to their new position in society, as O'Connor (1992: 124) argues, "the task of self-validation falls entirely on the informal sphere of relationships". These findings highlight the different, but equally important pathways to fulfil social needs. Although men seemed generally less proactive in forming neighbourly bonds, interestingly, several expressed a desire for closer ties. This challenges portrayals of older men as ambivalent about intimacy and social connection (see Davidson, 2004: 25). However, some men, particularly those who had stressful working lives, valued solitude in retirement due to the new freedom it provided. This underscores the importance of avoiding generalisations and recognising the diversity of older adults' experiences through a life course perspective.

Within spousal relationships, gendered divisions of care appeared less significant for partners with higher care requirements, suggesting the unique level of trust and mutual support that marital bonds in later life can offer. In intergenerational relationships, men often expressed a desire to maintain a provider role, while women valued opportunities to reciprocate care. However, these dynamics could also create tensions, as older adults balance feelings of appreciation with feelings to prioritise others' needs over their own. Recognising both the emotional rewards and burdens of intergenerational care expectations (Pope and Radtke, 2022: 688) is crucial to supporting healthier, more sustainable relationships in later life.

Conclusion

Evidence from the data suggests that gendered influences can provide valuable insight when it comes to understanding how older adults experience informal care in the UK, in turn, shaping their willingness or reluctance towards receiving different forms of support. Drawing on participants' narratives, the findings reveal that women's preference for emotionally reciprocal, trusted relationships, and men's tendency to value self-reliance and role-based identities, significantly influence how support is perceived and received in later life. These gendered patterns are closely tied to lifelong social roles and expectations, which continue to shape care experiences even as circumstances change.

This research was also motivated by the need to prioritise older adults' voices more often when examining care relationships, to better reflect the diverse, identity-informed ways in which informal care can present different benefits and challenges in how care is experienced. Gender is just one of many intersecting identity markers, and future research would benefit from a sample with a more varied socio-economic demographic and a greater diversity of ethnicity, aspects which were not disclaimed by the original researchers, to enhance a greater understanding of how informal care is received.

While independence is often held as a core value in later life, informal care can reinforce autonomy by enabling older adults to remain socially connected and feel valued through reciprocal relationships and contributing to wider society. Reframing informal care not as a one-sided act of charity but as a shared, dynamic exchange could shift social attitudes and reduce resistance to support. This study also raises important questions about how one's care expectations, which are heavily influenced by personal experience, can lead to uncertainty or discomfort, particularly as individuals navigate generational shifts in gender roles and family dynamics which may also be inevitable for those successive generations to come.

Recognising that men and women face distinct challenges in accessing care, whether due to social expectations, internalised roles, or relational patterns, can inform more responsive and inclusive care models. It is essential to move away from reductive stereotypes that cast older women as especially burdensome or older men as emotionally withdrawn, as such narratives risk overlooking the implications on groups' realities. Encouraging inclusive spaces for older adults to build support networks, beyond immediate circles, can help reduce feelings of

vulnerability, strengthen emotional well-being, and enhance their ability to manage both health and independence. Finally, this research offers an insight into how formal care could also subsequently be better received. Men may benefit from ensuring services do not undermine their sense of identity and control, and women, by fostering a higher level of trust through more attentive communication. These findings ultimately reinforce the need for all care, formal or informal, to be rooted in mutual respect, recognition, and understanding.

Bibliography:

Abdi, Sarah. Et al. (2019) 'Understanding the care and support needs of older people: a scoping review and categorisation using the WHO international classification of functioning, disability and health framework (ICF)' in BMC Geriatrics, 19(195): 1-15

Allam, Alison. (2015) 'The meaning of independence for older people' Accessed at https://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/12407/1/THE%20MEANING%20OF%20INDEPENDENCE%20FOR%20OLDER%20PEOPLE%20final%20-%20post%20viva1.pdf, Accessed 3/10/24

Allen, Ruth. And Wiles, Janine. (2014) 'Receiving Support When Older: What Makes it OK?' *In The Gerontologist*, 54(4): 670-682

Allred, Colette A. (2018) 'Attitudes on women's roles in the home: 1986-2016' *in National Center for Family & Marriage Research*. Available at: https://www.bgsu.edu/content/dam/BGSU/college-of-arts-and-sciences/NCFMR/documents/FP/allred-attitudes-womens-roles-home-fp-18-10.pdf (Accessed: 18 February 2025).

Anderson, Wayne. And Wiener, Joshua (2015) 'The Impact of Assistive Technologies on Formal and Informal Home Care' *in The Gerontologist*, 55(3): 422-433

Aneke, Austin Ikechukwu. (2023) 'An Exploration of the Role of Neighbours in Providing Support and Care to Older People Living with Dementia in their Own Homes' *in Proquest Dissertation and Theses*, Accessed

at https://www.proquest.com/docview/3059436021/7A970D6B9C714A49PQ/5?accountid=9730&sourcetype=Dissertations%20&%20Theses Accessed 29/09/2024

Arber, Sara (1993) Aging, Independence, and Life Course, London: Jessia Kingsley Publishers

Barken, Rachel. (2017) ''Independence' among older people receiving support at home: the meaning of daily care practices' *in Ageing & Society,* 39(3): 518-540

Begley, Emer. And Cahill, Suzanne. (2003) 'Carers: Why Women? *In Studies: An Irish Quarterly Review*, 92(366): 162-171

Bennett, Erica V., Clarke, Laura., Kowalski, Kent. And Crocker, Peter. (2017) "I'll do anything to maintain my health": How women aged 65-94 percieve, experience, and cope with their aging bodies' *in Body Image*, 21: 71-80

Biggs, Simon. (2004) 'Age, gender, narratives, and masquerades' *in Journal of Aging Studies*, 18(1): 45-58

Bodner, Ehud., Cohen-Fridel, Sara. And Yaretzky, Abraham. (2011) 'Sheltered housing or community dwelling: quality of life and ageism among elderly people' *in International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(8): 1197-1204

Boslaugh, Sarah. (2009) *Secondary Data Sources for Public Health,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Bowling, A., 2016, *Psychometric Testing of the Multidimensional Older People's Quality of Life Questionnaire, 2007-2008*, [data collection], UK Data Service, <u>DOI: http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-7667-1</u>

Bražinová, Ivana. and Chytil, Oldřich. (2024) 'The family as a source of social support for older adults: Implications for gerontological social work' *in Journal of Social Work,* 24(3): 303-457

Butterworth, Joanne E. and Campbell, John L. (2014) 'Older patients and their GPs: shared decision making in enhancing trust' in British Journal of General Practice, 64(628): e709–e718.

Cahill, Eileen. Et al (2009) "You Don't want to Burden Them": Older Adults' Views on Family Involvement in Care' *in Journal of Family Nursing*, 15(3): 295-317

Canvin, Krysia., MacLeod, Catherine., Windle, Gill. And Sacker, Amanda. (2018) 'Seeking assistance in later life: how do older people evaluate their need for assistance?' *In Age and Ageing*, 47(3): 466-473

Castleberry, Ashley. And Nolen, Amanda. (2018) 'Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds?' *In Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6): 807-815

Centre for Policy on Aging (2014) 'Changing family structures and their impact on the care of older people' Accessed at http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/CPA-Rapid-Review-Changing-family-

structures.pdf#:~:text=informal%20support%20to%20family%20member%20or%20friends,%20with Accessed 29/09/2024

Classen, Rutger (2011) "The Commodification of Care" in Hypatia, 26(1): 43-64.

Crisp, Richard. and Robinson, David. (2010) 'Family, Friends and Neighbours: Social Relations and Support in Six Low Income Neighbourhoods' Accessed at https://research.shu.ac.uk/cresr/living-through-change/documents/RP9 FamilyFriendsandNeighbours.pdf Accessed 04/10/2024

Coelho Júnior, Helio Jose., Picca, A., Calvani, R. and Marzetti, Emanuele. (2024) 'Is It Time to Let Masculinity Go? Reflection on the Case of an 87-Year-Old Man' *in The Journal of Frailty Aging*, 13(4): 588–589

Davidson, Kate. (2002) 'Gender differences in new partnership choices and constraints for older widows and widowers' in Ageing International, 27: 43-60

Davidson, Kate. (2004) "Why Can't a Man Be More like a Woman?": Marital Status and Social Networking of Older Men' in The Journal of Men's Studies, 13(1): 25-43

De Jong Gierveld, Jenny., Blommesteijn, Marieke. And De Valk, Helga. (2003) 'Social distinctions between older persons, the effect of gender and the gender system' in Genus, 59(1): 105-136

Devkota, Rashmi. Et al. (2023) 'Factors influencing emotional support of older adults living in the community: a scoping review protocol' *in Systematic Reviews*, 12(186): 1-10

Diehl, Manfred. Et al (2013) 'Change in Coping and Defense Mechanisms across Adulthood: Longitudinal Findings in a European-American Sample' *in Dev Psychol*, 50(2): 634-648

Doty, Pamela. (1986) 'Family Care of the Elderly: The Role of Public Polic' *in The Milbank Quarterly,* 64(1): 34-75

Duner, Anna. And Nordstrom Monica (2006) 'The roles and functions of the informal support networks of older people who receive formal support: a Swedish qualitative study' *in Aging and Society*, 27(1): 67-85

Dupuis, Ann. And Thorns, David C. (2007) 'Meanings of home for older home owners' in Housing Studies, 11(4): 485-501

Eberl, Andres., Lang, Sebastian. And Seebab, Katharina. (2017) 'The Impact of Informal Care and Employment on the Mental Health of the Caregiver' *in Sozealer Fortschritt*, 66(1): 77-96

Elias, Tania. And Lowton, Karen. (2014) 'Do those over 80 years of age seek more or less medical help? A qualitative study of health and illness beliefs and behaviour of the oldest old' *in Sociology of Health & Illness*, 36(7): 955-1123

Fine, Michael. And Glendinning, Caroline. (2005) 'Dependence, Independence or Interdependence? Revisiting the concepts of 'care' and 'dependency' in Ageing and Society, 25(4): 601-621

Frausing, Kristian. Et al. (2022) 'Health and health-care utilisation in old age: the case of older men living alone', in Ageing and Society, 42(6): 1252-1279

Frost, Rachael. Et al. (2020) 'Supporting frail older people with depression and anxiety: a qualitative study' *in Aging & Mental Health*, 24(12): 1977-1984

Gallagher, Sally K. (1994) 'Doing Their Share: Comparing Patterns of Help Given by Older and Younger Adults' *in Journal of Marriage and Family*, 56(3): 567-578

Gannon, Brenda. And Davin, Berehgere. (2010) 'Use of formal and informal care services among older people in Ireland and France' in *The European Journal of Health Economics*, 11(5): 499-511

Girgus, Joan., Yang, Kaite. And Ferri, Christine. (2017) 'The Gender Difference in Depression: Are Elderly Women at Greater Risk for Depression Than Elderly Men?' *In Geriatrics (Basel)*, 2(4): 1-35

Gu, Jinjin. Et al (2024) 'The hidden costs of informal caregiving: a concept analysis' *in BMC Nursing*, 23: 1-12

Hupcey, Judith E. (1998) 'Clarifying the social support theory-research linkage' in Journal of Advanced Nursing, 27(6): 1103-1332

Hochschild, Arlie Russel. (2012) *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling,* Berkeley; Los Angeles; London: University of California Press

Irvine, Annie. (2024) 'First steps in qualitative secondary analysis: experiences of engaging with the primary research team' in International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 27(6): 721-733

Irwin, Sarah. (2013) 'Qualitative secondary data analysis: Ethics, epistemology and context' *in Progress in Development Studies*, 13(4): 295-306

Johnston, Melissa P. (2014) 'Secondary Data Analysis: A Method of which the Time Has Come' *in Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, 3(3): 619-626

Jonson, Hakan. (2007) 'Is it Racism?' In Journal of Gerontological Social Work, 49(4): 79-96

Kallio, Hanna., Pietila, Anna-Maija., Johnson, Martin. And Kangasniemi, Mari. (2016) 'Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for qualitative semi-structured interview guide' *in Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12): 2949-3217

Kelly, Michelle M., Martin-Peters, Tasha. And Farber, Jessica. (2024) 'Secondary Data Analysis: Using Existing data to answer new questions' in Journal of Pediatric Health Care, 38(4): 615-618

Kim, Jeehoon. Et al. (2017) 'Technology Access and Use, and Their Associations With Social Engagement Among Older Adults: Do Women and Men Differ?' *In The Journals of Gerontology,* 72(5): 836-845

Kokorelias, Kristina. Et al. (2021) 'A qualitative exploration of how gender and relationship shape family caregivers' experiences across the Alzheimer's disease trajectory' *in Dementia*, 20(8): 2649-3058

Korotchenko, Alexandra. And Hurd Clarke, Laura. (2016) "I know it exists ... but I haven't experienced it personally": older Canadian men's perceptions of ageism as a distant social problem', in Ageing and Society, 36(8): 1757–1773)

Krekula, Clary. (2007) 'The Intersection of Age and Gender' in Current Sociology, 55(2): 147-314

Labbas, Alisa. And Stanfors, Maria. (2023) 'Does Caring for Parents Take Its Toll? Gender Differences in Caregiving Intensity, Coresidence, and Psychological Well-Being Across Europe' *in European Journal of Population*, 39(18): 1-29

Lee, Eun-Kyyoung 'Othelia'. and Brennan, Mark. (2002) ''I Cannot See Flowers but I Can Smell Them': The Relation of Age and Gender to Self-Reported Coping Strategies Among Older Adults with Visual Impairment' in Qualitative Social Work, 1(4): 389-411

Lewis, Camilla. And Buffel, Tine. (2020) 'Aging in place and the places of aging: A longitudinal study' *in Journal of Aging Studies*, 54: 1-8

Li, Hong. (2006) 'Involvement of Informal and Formal Service Providers: Meeting the Home Care Needs of Older Adults with Severe Functional Impairments' *in Home Health Care Services Quarterly*, 25(3-4): 167-183

Liao, Hui. Et al. (2023) 'Associations between social support and poverty among older adults' *in BMC Geriatrics*, 23(384): 1-13

Lloyd, Liz. Et al. (2012) 'Identity in the fourth age: perseverance, adaptation and maintaining dignity' in Aging and Society, 34(1): 1-19

Lyu, Jae Yeon., Hu, Bo., Wittenberg, Raphael. And King, Derek. (2023) 'The relationships between informal and formal social care for older people in England: A comparison before and after the Care Act 2014' *in Journal of Aging & Social Policy*, 36(4): 621-638

McCulloch, B. Jan. (1990) 'The Relationship of Intergenerational Reciprocity of Aid to the Morale of Older Parents: Equity and Exchange Theory Comparisons' *in Journal of Gerontology*, 45(4): 150-155

McInnis-Perry, Gloria., Weeks, Lori. And Stryhn, Henrik. (2013) 'Age and Gender Differences in Emotional and Informational Social Support Insufficiency For Older Adult in Atlantic Canada' *in Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive*, 45(4): 50-68

Messeri, Peter., Silverstein, Merril. And Liwak, Eugene. (1993) 'Choosing Optimal Support Groups: A Review and Reformulation' *in Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 34(2): 122-137

Milligan, C., Payne, S., Bingley, A. and Cockhott, Z. (2015) 'Place and wellbeing: shedding light on activity interventions for older men', *in Aging and Society* 35(1): 124-149

Miller, Patricia A. et al. (2014) 'Seniors' narratives of asking (and not asking) for help after a fall: implications for identity' *in Aging and SOciety*, 36(2): 240-258

Musiał, Maciej. (2013) 'The Outsourced Self: Intimate Life in Market Times by Arlie Russell Hochschild' *in Theory, Culture & Society,* 30(3): 140-145

O'connor, Pat. (1992) *Friendships between women: A critical review,* Hertfordshire: Harvester Wheatscheaf

Orbell, Sheina. (1996) 'Informal care in social context: A social psychological analysis of participation, impact and intervention in care of the elderly' *in Psychology and Health*, 11(1): 155-178

Person, Amanda. And Finch, Linda. (2009) 'Bedside manner: Concept analysis and impact on advance nursing practice' in *The Internet Journal of Advanced Nursing Practice*, 10(1): 1-6

Peterson, Lindsey. And Margaret, Ralston. (2017) 'Valued elders or societal burden: Cross-national attitudes toward older adults' *in International Sociology*, 32(6): 683-834

Petry, Heidi. (2003) 'Aging Happens: Experiences of Swiss Women Living Alone' *in Journal of Women & Aging*, 15(4): 51-68

Pickard, L., Wittenberg, R., Comas-Herrera, A., Darton, R. and Davies, B. (2000) 'Relying on informal care in the new century? Informal care for elderly people in England to 2031' *in Ageing & Society*, 20(6): 745–772

Pilcher, Jane. (2001) 'Domestic Divisions of Labour in the Twentieth Century: 'Change Slow A-Coming', in Work, Employment and Society, 14(4): 771-780

Plothner, M., Schmidt, K., de Jong, L. et al. (2019) 'Needs and preferences of informal caregivers regarding outpatient care for the elderly: a systematic literature review' *in BMC Geriartrics*, 19(82): 1-22

Pope, Natalie, and Radtke, Lorraine. (2022) 'Older women caring for others and needing care' *in Journal of Women & Aging*, 34(6): 687-691

Quaile, Andrew., Mavrogenis, Andreas F. And Scarlat, Marius M. (2024) 'What happened to 'bedside manner'?' in International Orthopaedics, 48: 885-887

Queniart, Anne. And Charpentier, Michele. (2011) 'Older women and their representations of old age: a qualitative analysis' *in Ageing & Society,* 36(6): 983-1007

Riedl, Maria., Mantovan, Franco. And Them, Christa. (2013) 'Being a Nursing Home Resident: A Challenge to One's identity' in Nursing Research and Practice, 2013(1): 1-9

Rioux, Liliane. (2005) 'The well-being of aging people living in their own homes' *in Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 25(2): 231-243

Robison, Daniel. (2018) *Trust older patients place in doctors can compromise medical care: study,* The Daily, [online] 4th September. Available at: https://thedaily.case.edu/trust-older-patients-place-doctors-can-compromise-medical-care-study/ [Accessed 8th Apr. 2025].

Rueda, Silvia. And Artazcoz, Lucia. (2009) 'Gender inequality in health among elderly people in a combined framework of socioeconomic position, family characteristics and social support' *in Ageing and Society*, 29(4): 625-647

Russell, Cherry. (2007) 'What do Older Women and Men Want: Gender Differences in the "Lived Experience" of Ageing?' *In Current Sociology*, 55(2): 173-192

Silverio, Sergio A. et al. (2022) 'Sensitive, Challenging, and Difficult Topics: Experiences and Practical Considerations for Qualitative Researchers' in International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 21: 1-16

Silverstein, Merril. And Litwak, Eugene. (1993) 'A Task-specific Typology of Intergenerational Family Structure in Later Life' *in The Gerontological Society of America*, 33(2): 258-264

Siira, Elin., Rolandsson, Bertil., Wijk, Helle. And Wolf Axel. (2020) 'Beyond the definition of formal care: Informal care arrangements among older swedes who are not family' *in Health & Social Care in the Community*, 28(2): 633–641

Smith, Emma. (2008) 'Pitfalls and Promises: The Use of Secondary Data analysis in Educational Research' *in British Journal of Educational Studies*, 56(3): 323-339

Smith, James A. et al. (2007) "I've been independent for so damn long!": Independence, masculinity and aging in a help seeking context' in Journal of Aging Studies, 21(4): 325-335

Tanner, Denise. (2007) 'Starting with Lives' in Journal of Social Work, 7(1): 5-122

Tanskanen, Antti O., Kallio, Johanna. And Danielsbacka, Mirkka. (2019) 'Should the family or the state provide support for the elderly people? Findings from a two-generational Finnish study' *in The International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 39(1): 138-155

Thompson, Catherine. (2017) 'Meeting the challenges of an ageing population', *NHS England*, 21st April. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/catherine-thompson/ [Accessed: 4th April 2025]

Truk Charles, Susan. And Carstensen, Laura L. (2023) 'Marriage in Old Age' in Yalom, Marilyn., Carstensen, Laura., Freedman, Estelle. And Gulpi, Barbara. (eds.) *Inside the American Couple*, Berkeley: University of California Press, 236-254

Ungerson, Clare. (2005) 'Care, Work and Feeling' in The Sociological Review, 53(2), 188-203

Vangen, Hanna. And Herlofson, Katharina. (2024) 'Why Care? How filial responsibility norms and relationship quality matter for subsequent provision of care to ageing parents' *in Ageing & Society*, 44: 2703-2727

Vroman, Kerryellen., Arthanat, Sajay. And Lysack, Catherine. (2015) "Who over 65 is online?" Older adults' dispositions toward information communication technology' *in Computers in Human Behaviour*, 43: 156-166

Walker, Rith. And Hiller, Janet. (2007) 'Places and health: A qualitative study to explore how older women living alone perceive the social and physical dimensions of their neighbourhoods' *in Social Science & Medicine*, 65(6): 1154-1165

Wang, Jing. And Wang, Xue. (2024) 'Urbanization, female employment, and family care choice' *in The Journal of Chinese Sociology,* 11(1): 1-16

Weicht, Bernhard. (2008) 'The morality of caring: The discursive construction of informal care' 1(2): 120-143, Accessed at https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/sociology/documents/enquire/volume-1-issue-2-weicht.pdf#:~:text=1%20ln%20this%20paper%20l%20focus%20in%20particular Accessed 29/09/2024

Weller, Susie. And Edwards, Rosalind. (2022) 'Ownership, connectedness and archives: Changing perceptions overtime' *Timescapes Blog,* [online] Available at: https://timescapes-archives-changing-perceptions-over-time/ [Accessed 8th March 2025]

Westwood, Sue. (2023) "It's the not being seen that is most tiresome": Older women, invisibility and social (in)justice' in Hournal of Women & Aging, 35(6): 557-572

Wiles, Janine L., Wild, Kirsty., Kerse, Ngaire. And Allen, Ruth E.S. (2012) 'Resilience from the point of view of older people: "There's still life beyond a funny knee" in Social Science & Medicine, 74(3): 416-424

Willinska, Monka. (2010) 'Because Women Will ALways Be Women and Men Are Just Getting Older' in Current Sociology, 58(6): 811-920

Wright, Paul. (1982) 'Men's friendships, women's friendships and the alleged inferiority of the latter' *in Sex Roles*, 8: 1–20

Zygouri, Ionna. Et al. (2021) 'Gendered experiences of providing informal care for older people: a systematic review and thematic synthesis' in BMC Health Services Research, 21(730): 1-15

Appendix I

Bowling, A., 2016, Psychometric Testing of the Multidimensional Older People's Quality of Life

Questionnaire, 2007-2008, [data collection], UK Data Service, Accessed 28 April 2025. SN:

7667, DOI: http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-7667-1

Int002

INT: Oh gosh a long time.

RES: Yes a long time, he had the dining room which we stripped out and made it into a

bed/sitting room you see.

INT:

Right, so I mean do you think that's had an effect on your wife's health

RES:

Oh yes

INT:

that stress?

RES: Yes without a doubt yes. It was just too much, although I did what I could. As I say I do

all the shopping and all the heavy work and so on and so forth. But even now I mean, every 3

weeks we have the ladies in to clean. It's ***** Old, and she runs a little firm called Old Maids

and they come and descend upon us, I like to keep out the way. There's three ladies dashing

about and they go right through the house like a dose of salts, you know. They make a

beautiful job of it, I mean grand because she can't do it anymore.

INT:

Yeah and so have you had to take on a lot more

RES:

Oh yes

INT:

household jobs?

RES:

Yes. As I say I start in the morning, lay the table, do the breakfast because she's worse

in the morning, and help with all the household chores, do all the shopping.

INT:

And is that a change from your working life?

36

RES: Oh yes. When I was working I used to travel a lot, I was a Regional Sales Manager then I became a National Sales Manager, national accounts as they used to call it for all the major supermarket groups. So of course I was on the road a lot. And quite often I used to be away all week and of course the children were younger then and she used to have it. But she coped quite well you know, they were well behaved kiddies and no, everything went quite swimmingly. In fact the kids didn't miss me till it was Friday and then they got pocket money you see. "Will daddy be home today?" (Laughs) With the pocket money. But yes it took a lot out of her looking after the old fellow.

INT: And how do you feel about taking on a lot more household chores?

RES: Well if I'm capable of doing it I don't mind doing it. I don't see it as a, what's the word? Can't think of the word now, I don't see it as work or a chore and that, I mean we've been married 62 years, it'll be 63 this year, we married in 1945. Almost in an air raid, it was the Doodlebugs at the time, the flying bombs, and it was all over very quickly and then we went down into the shelter and came up and it was all over. And once or twice she looked to make sure everything was in order, in those days there were no such things as partners. You had to be married in order to cohabit.

INT: And what about your quality of life, do you think that's been affected by your wife being a bit less able?

RES: Yes because as I say she's always been a travel sick person and so things are such that we don't travel at all now. To give you some idea, I had my car MOT'd last week and it was 1280 odd miles from the previous MOT so that's all the mileage I'd done. Whereas when I was on the road I used to do 30, 35000 miles a year, you see. I don't miss it, believe me! Because it gets a bit tiring at times.

INT: So would you like to be able to travel you know for holidays now?

RES: Yes, yes I'd like to go out and about a bit, even if it would mean going to the coast or going abroad or whatever. A few years ago my son invited me, he was going to Amsterdam for the weekend, "would you like to come dad?" so I thought yes. And I had to leave her alone you see, which didn't go down very well?

INT: Why? What do you mean?

RES: Well because she likes me to hand, she likes me handy so I can do things and also there's this business of security these days. She'd be alone in the house, although we have two dogs.

INT: Oh you do? They're very quiet.

RES: Well they'll be in there, they're schitzus, they're everybody's friend but they bark a lot, they want to make a fuss all the time so we've got them in the other room. ****'s writing letters at the moment.

INT: How does that make you feel then that you can't go away on your own and that she can't come with you either so you're a bit stuck aren't you?

RES: Yes but I accept it. One has to, otherwise you start being resentful. You can't do what you want to do but I've done it all, I've travelled a lot. You know it's the wrong end of life. I would like the opportunity for example I'd like to go on a cruise. I think I could afford it. No chance! absolutely no chance.

INT: It's a shame isn't it?

RES: Yes. I mean when you think about retiring you think of all the things you want to do and all the things you'd like to do. We read quite a bit, books out the library and out the charity shops and that sort of thing. As I say, we have a fairly active life except for the fact that she can't travel.

INT: So could you go for a day trip in the car or would that be too much?

RES: oh yes.

INT: It would be?

RES: Yes, I can't take her up to the shops without her feeling a bit queer. If she was fit enough she'd walk home rather than go, but when she's alright she can take the dogs out across the road and walk up the canal for half an hour and she quite enjoys that. Or sometimes, because the allotments aren't far away, if she's feeling very good then she'll walk out as far as the allotments, we'll sit and have a coffee, have a brew on. But then of course when I come home I'll probably have to help with the lunch you see. But no, ok it cramps your

style but the last thing you want is to be... you know she's the mother of my children! You know, I started a dynasty if you like (laughs).

INT: Of course. (Dogs barking) There they go!

RES: They can hear us probably talking or she's realised somebody's in the house. Yes so it's a shame but there you are. We've tried various remedies, one we've tried recently was Stuperon, if you take it about 2 hours before you intend to go anywhere it's alright. But as I say we don't do that very often because she doesn't like it. When my son was born, I forget now, my parents were still alive and they lived down in London, they wanted us to come down for Christmas. He was born on 21st November so he was about 6 weeks old, so we went down on the train and she wasn't too bad and there was a Rolls waiting for us, the old man had hired a Rolls, waiting for us at the station, St Pancras, so we got on. As soon as he started stopping and starting in the traffic that did it and eventually she was sick of course.

INT: Oh poor thing!

RES: Managed to get her head out.

INT: Sick in a Rolls!

RES: Yes, the annoying thing was, the fella said "oh God my next jobs a wedding! I'll have to go back to the garage and get it washed".

INT: Oh no! (laughs)

RES: So I had to give him a bit of cash to quieten him down and, I'll always remember that.

INT: Oh funny. And your cataract operation tell me about that, you mentioned that in the questionnaire.

RES: Yes well I was quite surprised, it was about a year or so ago, I've always been short sighted and I was finding it a little bit more difficult to focus. For example if I wanted to set the video I'd have to sit a bit closer and then I couldn't see the captions that go across the bottom. And then when I went for my annual check-up the optician said "well you've got the beginnings of cataracts there", he says. I said "oh you know what happens now?" he said "well you really ought to have them seen to you know, operated on". I don't like the sound of that

but, so anyhow he says "it's no problem, it's a day job, in and out in a day". So anyhow he wrote to the doctor, the doctor wrote to the hospital, well in about 3 weeks I got a letter of appointment. Went to see the optometrist and he said "oh yes you've definitely got one". So I went in and had the op and of course they take the old lense out which becomes cloudy slightly. It kind, you kind of go blind with it you know if it's not treated. And then they put in a plastic one.

INT: And what, how has it changed things for you?

RES: Ah well now then, I'm sitting here without any glasses on aren't I? I had the left eye done first and then when the bandages were taken off after a day or two, I could see! You know, right across the road I could see there's a bird over there with an ant on its chest! You know, it's as good as that. But the peculiarity was that my glasses were for a short sighted person, well I had long sight in that eye and short sight in eye so it was a bit confusing so what I had to do, I just took the lense out of that but what I do need now are reading glasses because in due course when it was ok and it settles down, because they do them one at a time, they don't do them both together. Just in case. And then I had the second eye done and believe it or not these cost about £1 a piece, you don't have to go and spent £50, £60, £70 for a pair of reading glasses.

INT: Yeah. So that made a bit difference then to you?

RES: Oh yes! I can drive, I mean I could, very easily now I could pass the sight test for a driving licence, whereas before with my glasses on it was touch and go, I'd have to you know really stare at it. When you have to, they say read a number plate at 25 yards or whatever it is you know. Oh yes, yes it's made quite a difference except for the fact that these are going off and on all the time (glasses) and then I say "where are they?" you know. And of course they're up there aren't they? (Laughs)

INT: And so talking about driving that's another thing that you highlighted was that you felt that it was very important for older people to have their own car or access to a car for your independence?

RES: Yes. Yes that is true because a lot of people they have to have regular visits to hospital or they want to go to the local luncheon club and you can't rely on your children, if you've